

中國創新投資有限公司

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 1217)

2017 INTERIM REPORT

Interim Report 2017

# **CONTENTS**

	Page
CORPORATE INFORMATION	2
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS	3
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS	4
DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST	8
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND OTHER INFORMATION	10
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME	13
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION	14
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY	15
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS	16
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	17

Interim Report 2017

# CORPORATE INFORMATION

# **EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS**

Mr. Xiang Xin

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee

# INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Xin David Mr. Zang Hong Liang Mr. Lee Wing Hang

#### ALTERNATE DIRECTOR

Ms. Kung Ching, an alternate director to Mr. Xiang Xin

# **AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES**

Mr. Xiang Xin Mr. Li Wancheng

# **COMPANY SECRETARY**

Mr. Li Wancheng

### NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Xiang Xin (Chairman) Mr. Wang Xin David Mr. Zang Hong Liang

# AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wang Xin David (Chairman)

Mr. Zang Hong Liang Mr. Lee Wing Hang

# REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681 Grand Cayman, KY1-1111 Cayman Islands

# PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

26/F, No. 9 Des Voeux Road West, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

# PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited 4th Floor, Royal Bank House 24 Shedden Road, George Town Grand Cayman KY1-1110 Cayman Islands

# HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Union Registrars Limited Suites 3301-04 33/F, Two Chinachem Exchange Square 338 King's Road North Point Hong Kong

# **INVESTMENT MANAGER**

China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited

# **AUDITOR**

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited

# PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited UBS AG

# **CUSTODIANS**

China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited UBS Securities Hong Kong Limited Kingston Securities Limited

#### STOCK CODE

1217

# **WEBSITE**

www.1217.com.hk

# FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The board (the "Board") of directors (the "Directors") of China Innovation Investment Limited (the "Company") are pleased to announce the unaudited interim results of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2017 with comparative figures for the corresponding period of 2016 as follows:

	Six months ended 30 June	
	2017 <i>HK\$'000</i> (Unaudited)	2016 <i>HK\$'000</i> (Unaudited)
Gross proceeds from disposal of securities	114,985	43,277
Dividend income	778	2,949
Net realised gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	1,245	4,245
Profit/(loss) for the period and attributable to owners of the Company	12,638	(16,130)
Earnings/(loss) per share Basic	0.099 cents	(0.18 cents)
Diluted	N/A	N/A

### INTERIM DIVIDEND

To maintain the capital for operation and potential investment opportunities, the Board does not recommend the payment of an interim dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2017.

Interim Report 2017

## MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

#### FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the six months ended 30 June 2017, the Company recorded gross proceeds from disposal of securities are approximately HK\$114,985,000 (six months ended 30 June 2016: HK\$43,277,000). For the six months ended 30 June 2017, the Company recorded dividend income of approximately HK\$778,000 (Six months ended 30 June 2016: HK\$2,949,000) while net realized gain on disposal of financial assets was approximately HK\$1,245,000 (Six month ended 30 June 2016: HK\$4,245,000).

The profit for the six months ended 30 June 2017 was approximately HK\$12,638,000 while the loss for the corresponding period of 2016 was approximately HK\$16,130,000.

#### **BUSINESS REVIEW**

The Company is an investment holding company and the Company's shares were listed on The Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") on 28 August 2002 pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

1. On 21 July 2016, the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region has delivered a final judgment and Si Rongbin was ordered to pay the Company with: (i) HK\$15,000,000; (ii) interests in respect of HK\$15,000,000 for the period from 23 February 2016 to 21 July 2016 calculated at the rate of 8% per annum, and thereafter at the judgement rate until settlement; (iii) fixed costs of HK\$11,045 ("Court Judgement"). As Si Rongbin did not follow the Court Judgement, the Company applied the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region to issue bankruptcy order to Si Rongbin ("Bankruptcy Application").

On 6 March 2017, after the hearing of the Bankruptcy Application, the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region judged that a bankruptcy order has been issued to Si Rongbin because he has no grounds to object to the Bankruptcy Application, and Si Rongbin was ordered to pay the legal cost of the Company.

On 30 September 2016, as an integral part of its marketing plans for the Wealth Storm Platform, Boss Dream Culture Communication Limited ("Boss Culture") announced that each of the current employees and ultimate shareholders of all strategic partners who have a contractual relationship with Boss Culture, which include but not limited to the Company and China Trends Holdings Limited, will receive monthly "Wealth Storm" redemption coupons in accordance with his/her salary and the nominal value of his/her/its shareholding respectively (the "Welfare Plan").

On 27 January 2017, the development of the Wealth Storm Platform is almost completed and has been in on-line pilot operation. Due to no ideal solutions for the payment method and data privacy issues at this moment, the schedule for the implementation of Welfare Plan shall be delayed for some time until further notice.

#### PROSPECT

The Company is one of the few investment companies in Hong Kong focusing investment in integration of military and civil sectors. We invest in listed and non-listed companies with high quality to strive for medium and long-term gains from capital appreciation in the course of securitisation of corporate assets invested, and apply the same as our key operation strategy and income source.

Leveraging on our experience and well-connected network in the Mainland market over years, the Company recently invested in charge storage products, lighting products, energy-saving materials and media terminals respectively through its investment. With energy conservation as our development goal, our investments have achieved breakthroughs in realising the four industries of "New Energy", "New Light", "New Materials" and "New Media" in real projects.

#### INVESTMENT PORTFOLIOS

As at 30 June 2017, the Company held investments in five unlisted companies namely Topsun Creation Limited, Aesthetic Vision Limited, United Crown Future Company Limited, Blue Angel (H.K.) Limited and Grand Far Sky Limited, which amounting to total cost and carrying values of approximately HK\$353,564,000 and HK\$268,682,000 respectively.

- (i) Topsun Creation Limited ("Topsun") was incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in investment holding. At 30 June 2017, Topsun directly held 100% interest in a company incorporated in the PRC, which the principal activity was in relation to new energies as its major products. The Company holds 2,710 "B" non-voting shares in Topsun, representing 67.75% interest in the issued share capital of Topsun. No dividend was received during the period.
- (ii) Aesthetic Vision Limited ("Aesthetic") was incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in investment holding. The principal assets of Aesthetic include its wholly-owned subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC. Aesthetic possesses LED ergonomics technology with features including LED illuminant, appropriate light flux, free colour temperature, healthy spectrum and compliance to ergonomics. The Company holds 8,500 "B" non-voting shares in Aesthetic, representing 85% interest in the issued share capital of Aesthetic. No dividend was received during the period.

Interim Report 2017

- (iii) United Crown Future Company Limited ("United Overseas") was incorporated in British Virgin Island and principally engaged in investment holding. United Overseas directly holds 100% interest in a company incorporated in the PRC, which is principally engaged in conducting research and development of energy-saving materials for walls. The Company holds 1,621 "B" non-voting shares in United Overseas, representing 52.68% interest in the issued share capital of United Overseas. No dividend was received during the period.
- (iv) Blue Angel (H.K.) Limited ("Blue Angel HK") was incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in investment holding. As at 30 June 2017, the Company holds 48,500 "B" non-voting shares in Blue Angel HK, which represented 62.99% interest in the issued share capital of Blue Angel HK. No dividend was received during the period.
- (v) Grand Far Sky Limited ("Grand Far Sky") was incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in investment holding, which specifically provide completed management of asset and funds platform. Grand Far Sky holds 95% interest in a subsidiary incorporated in the PRC, of which the principle activity is funding platform and asset management. As at 30 June 2017, the Company holds 3,000 "B" non-voting shares in Grand Far Sky, which represented 31.58% interest in the issued share capital of Grand Far Sky. No dividend was received during the period.

### LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2017, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK\$75,728,000. All the cash and cash equivalents were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

For the period under review, the Company financed its operations with its own available funding and did not have any banking facilities. In this regard, the Company had a net cash position and its gearing ratio was zero (net debt to shareholders' funds) as at 30 June 2017. Taking into consideration the existing financial resources of the Company, it is anticipated that the Company should have adequate financial resources to meet its ongoing operating and development requirements.

# **CAPITAL STRUCTURE**

Details in the changes of the capital structure of the Company during the six months ended 30 June 2017 are set out in note 8 to the condensed financial statements. The capital of the Company comprises only ordinary shares as at 30 June 2017.

#### FOREIGN CURRENCY FLUCTUATION

The Company conducted its business transactions principally in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. The Directors considered that the Company had no significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations and believed it was not necessary to hedge against any exchange risk. Nevertheless, management will continue to monitor the foreign exchange exposure position and will take any future prudent measure it deems appropriate.

### CHARGE ON COMPANY ASSET AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2017, the Company has not pledge its assets and the Company did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

#### EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 30 June 2017, the Company had 10 (2016: 11) staff.

# **APPRECIATION**

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation and heartfelt thanks to those who have given their utmost supports and contributions to the Company during the period.

On behalf of the Board
CHINA INNOVATION INVESTMENT LIMITED
Xiang Xin

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 18 August 2017

Interim Report 2017

# **DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST**

### DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST BY DIRECTORS

As at 30 June 2017, the following Directors and the chief executive of the Company or any of their respective associates had the following interests and short positions in the ordinary shares of HK\$0.01 each in the capital of the Company (the "Share"), underlying shares, and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers under the Listing Rules (the "Model Code").

# (I) INTEREST IN THE UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY — SHARE OPTIONS

Name of Director	Date of grant	Exercise period	Nature of interest	Exercise price per share HK\$	Number of underlying Shares for Share Options	Approximately percentage of interest
Xiang Xin	6 July 2014	6 July 2014 to 5 July 2024	Beneficial interest	0.0497	60,394,737(L)	0.47%
Wang Xin David	6 July 2014	6 July 2014 to 5 July 2024	Beneficial interest	0.0497	30,197,368(L)	0.24%
Zang Hong Liang	6 July 2014	6 July 2014 to 5 July 2024	Beneficial interest	0.0497	20,131,579(L)	0.16%
Lee Wing Hang	6 July 2014	6 July 2014 to 5 July 2024	Beneficial interest	0.0497	30,197,368(L)	0.24%

#### SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As regards to the share option scheme ("Share Option Scheme") approved by shareholders under annual general meeting on 22 May 2014, there were 539,526,316 Shares available for issue under Share Option Scheme which represents approximately 4.21% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 30 June 2017.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2017, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company or any of their respective associates had any interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying shares, and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code.

# DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS BY SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 June 2017, the persons/companies, other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, who had interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

# LONG POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Name	Capacity	Number of issued shares held	Approximate percentage of interests
China Technology Education Trust Association (note 1)	Beneficiary	3,817,807,905(L)	29.82%
Haitong Guotai (note 2) Guotai Investment (note 2)	Trustee Beneficiary	2,362,720,000(L) 2,362,720,000(L)	18.46% 18.46%

#### Notes:

- 1. The underlying Shares of the Company are held by China Technology Education Trust Association (the "Association"), a society registered under the provisions of section 5A(1) of the Societies Ordinance in 2005, which is a charitable society providing charity and financial aid to education and employment in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Mr. Xiang Xin is a chairman of the Association.
- Haitong Guotai is a trust wholly and beneficially owned by Guotai Investment. Accordingly, Guotai Investment is interested in the shares of the Company held by Haitong Guotai.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2017, the Company has not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Interim Report 2017

# CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND OTHER INFORMATION

# CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board is committed to establish and maintain high standards of corporate governance so as to enhance corporate transparency and protect the interests of the Company's shareholders. The Company devotes to best practice on corporate governance, and to comply with the extent practicable, with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the "Code") as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Listing Rules").

During the six months ended 30 June 2017, the Company has complied with the code provisions in the Code, save for deviation from Codes A.2.1 and A.4.1.

- The roles of Chairman And Chief Executive Officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
- The non-executive Directors of the Company are not appointed for a specific term, but are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company's Articles of Association and shall be eligible for re-election.

During the period, Mr. Xiang Xin was the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. This deviates from code provision A.2.1 of the Code which requires that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.

After evaluation of the current situation of the Company and taking into account of the experience and past performance of Mr. Xiang, the Board is of the opinion that it is appropriate and in the best interests of the Company at the present stage for Mr. Xiang to hold both positions as the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company as it helps to maintain the continuity of the policies and the stability of the operations of the Company.

None of the existing non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term. This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the Code. However, all Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company's Articles of Association. As such, the Board considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company's corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those in the Code.

#### **EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE**

The Company established an Executive committee (the "Executive Committee") on 3 August 2007 and delegated with powers from the Board to deal with all matters relating to the daily operations of the Company. The Executive Committee consists of all executive Directors of the Company, namely Mr. Xiang Xin and Mr. Chan Cheong Yee. Mr. Xiang Xin is the chairman of the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee held periodical meetings during the financial year to review, discuss and evaluate the business performance and operational matters of the Company.

## REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee (the "Remuneration Committee") in 2006 in accordance with the terms of reference set out in the Code. The Remuneration Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Xin David, Mr. Zang Hong Liang and Mr. Lee Wing Hang. Mr. Wang Xin David is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee determines the policy for the remuneration of executive Directors, assesses performance of executive Directors and approves the terms of executive Directors' service contracts.

### NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established an Nomination committee (the "Nomination Committee") on August 2007 in accordance with the terms of reference set out in the Code. The Nomination Committee consists of three Directors of the Company, namely Mr. Xiang Xin, Mr. Wang Xin David and Mr. Zang Hong Liang. Mr. Xiang Xin is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to the Board regarding the appointment of members of the Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying the individuals suitably qualified to become board members and select or make recommendations to the board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships.

#### AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the "Audit Committee") on 28 August 2002 in accordance with the terms of reference set out in the Code. The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Xin David, Mr. Zang Hong Liang and Mr. Lee Wing Hang. Mr. Wang Xin David is the chairman of the Audit Committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting process, internal control and risk management systems of the Company and to provide advice and comments to the Board, overseeing the audit process and performing other duties and responsibilities as may be assigned by the Board from time to time.

Interim Report 2017

The Company's unaudited condensed financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2017 has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

# PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

During the six months ended 30 June 2017, the Company had not purchased, sold or redeemed the Company's listed securities.

### MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers ("Model Code") set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors of the Company have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code.

# SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, throughout the six months ended 30 June 2017.

# CONDENSED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

		Six months ended 30 June		
	Notes	2017 <i>HK\$'000</i> (Unaudited)	2016 <i>HK\$'000</i> (Unaudited)	
Gross proceeds from disposal of securities		114,985	43,277	
Interest income Dividend income Other income Net realised gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss Unrealised holding gain/(loss) from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss Administrative and other operating expenses		2 778 9 1,245 15,841 (5,237)	8 2,949 - 4,245 (10,351) (12,981)	
Profit/(loss) before taxation Income tax expense	3 4	12,638 -	(16,130)	
Profit/(loss) for the period and attributable to owners of the Company		12,638	(16,130)	
Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the period and attributable to owners of the Company		12,638	(16,130)	
Earnings/(loss) per share				
Basic	5	0.099 cents	(0.18 cents)	
Diluted	5	N/A	N/A	

# CONDENSED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Notes	30 June 2017 <i>HK\$'000</i> (Unaudited)	31 December 2016 <i>HK\$'000</i> (Audited)
	-	-
6	268,682	268,682
	268,682	268,682
	302,471	84,085
	2,696	13,676
7	75,728	270,984
	380,895	368,745
	138	626
	138	626
	380,757	368,119
	649,439	636,801
8	•	128,016
	521,423	508,785
	649,439	636,801
10	HK\$0.05	HK\$0.05
	<i>6 7</i>	2017 Notes 2017 HK\$'000 (Unaudited)  6 268,682 268,682 268,682 302,471 2,696 75,728 380,895 138 138 380,757 649,439  8 128,016 521,423 649,439

# CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

	Issued share capital HK\$'000	Share premium account HK\$'000	Share option reserve <i>HK\$'000</i>	Accumulated losses HK\$'000	Total <i>HK\$'000</i>
At 1 January 2017 (Audited)	128,016	655,342	9,456	(156,013)	636,801
Total comprehensive profit for the period				12,638	12,638
At 30 June 2017 (Unaudited)	128,016	655,342	9,456	(143,375)	649,439
A+ 1 January 2016					
At 1 January 2016 (Audited)	85,144	490,934	9,744	(101,841)	483,981
Total comprehensive loss for the period	-	-	-	(16,130)	(16,130)
Issue of shares upon exercise of share option	200	1,218	(418)	-	1,000
Issue of shares upon completion of open offer	42,672	170,688	_		213,360
At 30 June 2016					
(Unaudited)	128,016	662,840	9,326	(117,971)	682,211

#### Notes:

- (i) Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for paying distributions of dividends to the shareholders subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company and a statutory solvency test. Under the Articles of Association of the Company, dividend may be declared or payable out of the profits and reserves of the Company lawfully available for distribution with the sanction of an ordinary resolution. Dividend may also be declared out of share premium account of the Company. As at 30 June 2017, the Company's reserve available for distribution amounted to approximately HK\$511,967,000 (30 June 2016: approximately HK\$544,869,000).
- (ii) The share option reserve comprises the fair value of unexercised share options granted to directors, employees and business advisors of the Company recognised in accordance with HKFRS 2.

Interim Report 2017

# **CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS**

	Six months ended 30 June	
	2017 HK\$'000	2016 <i>HK\$'000</i>
	(Unaudited)	(Unaudited)
Net cash used in operating activities	(195,256)	(107,768)
Net cash generated from financing activities	-	214,360
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	(195,256)	106,592
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period	270,984	113,567
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD	75,728	220,159
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Cash and bank balances	75,728	220,159

# NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Innovation Investment Limited (the "Company") is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business is situated at 26/F., 9 Des Voeux Road West, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong. The Company's shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") since 28 August 2002.

The Company's principal activity has not changed during the period and is principally engaged in investments. Its principal investment objective is to achieve medium and long-term capital appreciation by investing in listed and unlisted companies mainly in Hong Kong ("HK") and the People's Republic of China (the "PRC").

#### 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The unaudited condensed financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable disclosure requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules and with Hong Kong Accounting Standard ("HKAS") 34 "Interim Financial Reporting" issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA").

The unaudited condensed financial statements do not include all the information and disclosures required in the annual financial statements, and should be read in conjunction with the Company's annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The Company has adopted all the new and revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA that are relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting period beginning on 1 January 2017. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the Company's accounting policies, presentation of the Company's financial statements and amounts reported for the current period and prior years.

The Company has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Company has already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether these new HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results of operations and financial position.

Interim Report 2017

# 3 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

Siv	months	habna	30	luna

	2017 <i>HK\$'000</i> (Unaudited)	2016 <i>HK\$'000</i> (Unaudited)
The Company's profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging:		
Auditors' remuneration  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  Employee benefit expense, including Directors' remuneration	98 -	257 13
wages, salaries and welfare     contribution to retirement benefits scheme Operating lease charge for land and buildings	521 21 480	378 6 480

### 4 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the six months ended 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016 as the Company did not generate any assessable profits.

#### 5 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK\$12,638,000 (six months ended 30 June 2016: loss of HK\$16,130,000) and the weighted average number of 12,801,578,629 (six months ended 30 June 2016: 8,759,534,531) shares in issue during the period.

The computation of the diluted earnings/(loss) per share does not assume the exercise of the Company's share options as the exercise would increase/decrease the earnings/ (loss) per share of current period and prior period, respectively.

#### **AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS** 6

Unlisted equity securities, at cost	30 June 2017 <i>HK\$'000</i> (Unaudited) 353,564 (84,882)	31 December 2016 <i>HK\$'000</i> (Audited) 353,564
Less: Impairment	268,682	(84,882)
CASH AND BANK BALANCES		
	30 June 2017 <i>HK\$'000</i> (Unaudited)	31 December 2016 <i>HK\$'000</i> (Audited)
Cash at banks Cash on hand	75,725 3	270,981 <u>3</u>
	75,728	270,984
SHARE CAPITAL		
	30 June 2017	31 December 2016

# 8

7

	30 Julie	31 December
	2017	2016
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
	(Unaudited)	(Audited)
Authorised: 100,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK\$0.01 each (31 December 2016: 15,000,000,000) (note)	1,000,000	150.000
(31 December 2010. 13,000,000,000) ( <i>Mote)</i>	1,000,000	130,000
Issued and fully paid: 12,801,578,629 ordinary shares of HK\$0.01 each		
(31 December 2016: 12,801,578,629)	128,016	128,016

Note: The Increase in Authorised Share Capital to HK\$1,000,000,000 divided into 100,000,000,000 Shares was approved by the shareholders of the Company in the annual general meeting held on 21 June 2017.

Interim Report 2017

#### 9 SHARE OPTIONS

Pursuant to an annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 May 2014 and the Stock Exchange granting approval of the listing of and permission to deal in the shares to be issued under the share option scheme (the "Scheme") on 4 June 2014, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme for the purpose of providing incentive to directors, employees and consultants. Unless or otherwise cancelled, amended or expire, the Scheme will be expired on 3 June 2024.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue, or if such 10% limit is refreshed, the maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options grant and yet to be exercised under the Scheme must not exceed 30% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue from time to time. The number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company then issue, without prior approval from the Company's shareholders. Each grant of options to any director, chief executive or substantial shareholder must be approved by independent non-executive directors. Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or any of their respective associates would result in the shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of options already granted and to be granted in excess of HK\$5,000,000 in the 12 month period up to the date of grant, then the grant must be approved in advance by the Company's shareholders.

A consideration of HK\$1 shall be paid to the Company upon acceptance of the grant. Options may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a year to be determined and notified by the directors of the Company, which period may not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. The exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the higher of closing price of the Company's shares on the date of grant, and the average closing price of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

Interim Report 2017

Movement of the options granted under the Scheme for the period ended 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016 are as follows:

		Number of share options						
Date of grant	Exercise period	Outstanding as a 1 January 2017	t Gran during	the durir		Exercised luring the period	Outstanding as at 30 June 2017	Exercise price per share option HK\$
6 July 2014	6 July 2014– 5 July 2024	539,526,316	3	-	-	-	539,526,316	0.0497
		Number of share options						
		Outstanding as at	Granted	Expired	Exercised	Adjustment upon completion		Adjusted exercise price per
Date of grant	Exercise period	1 January 2016	during the period	during the period	during the period	of open offer		share option <i>HK</i> \$
6 July 2014	6 July 2014– 5 July 2024	556,000,000	-	-	(20,000,000)	3,526,316	539,526,316	0.0497

#### 10 NET ASSETS VALUE PER SHARE

The net asset value per share of the Company is HK\$0.05 (31 December 2016: HK\$0.05). The calculation of net asset value per share is based on the net asset of the Company as at 30 June 2017 of approximately HK\$649,439,000 (31 December 2016: HK\$636,801,000) and 12,801,578,629 ordinary shares in issued (31 December 2016: 12,801,578,629) at the end of reporting period.

Interim Report 2017

# 11 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

	Six months ended 30 June		
	2017 <i>HK\$'000</i> (Unaudited)	2016 <i>HK\$'000</i> (Unaudited)	
Investment management fee paid to China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited (note a)	240	240	
Rental expenses paid to  New Era Group (China) Limited (note b)	480	480	
Rental deposit paid to  New Era Group (China) Limited (note b)	160	160	

#### Note:

(a) The Company entered into an investment management agreement with China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited ("CES") for a period of three years commencing from 1 June 2003 in consideration of a payment of a fee calculated at 0.25% per annum of the net asset value of the Company as at the last dealing date on the Stock Exchange in each calendar month or such other valuation date as considered appropriate by the Board and payable on a monthly basis on a business date immediately after each valuation date. The agreement is renewed automatically for a period of three years upon expiry unless a written notice of termination by either party for not less than 3 months is served.

In addition, CES is entitled to a bonus fee equivalent to 10% of the audited profit before tax of each financial year of the Company payable on the business date immediately after the publication of the Company's final audited result for the year. On 23 October 2007, a First Supplemental Agreement was entered into between the Company and CES whereas the service fee was fixed at HK\$300,000 per annum by a monthly payment of HK\$25,000 ("Investment Management Fee") and the annual bonus was maximised to HK\$1,000,000 with effect from 1 January 2008. CES is regarded as a connected person of the Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules. Mr. Chan Cheong Yee, a director of the Company, is the authorised representative of CES.

On 28 February 2012, the Company and CES entered into the Second Supplemental Agreement which lasts for 3 years commenced with effect from 20 May 2012 and shall terminate on 19 May 2015. Pursuant to this agreement, the Investment Management Fee is increased to HK\$960,000 per annum with effect from 20 May 2012, and payable monthly by the Company to CES at HK\$80,000 per month. Furthermore, it was agreed that the Company and CES shall not terminate the Agreement (as amended by the First Supplemental Agreement and the Second Supplemental Agreement) within the twelve months commencing from 20 May 2012.

On 19 December 2013, the Company and CES entered into the Third Supplemental Agreement. Pursuant to this agreement, the Investment Management Fee is separated into two portions. The fixed portion of HK\$480,000 per annum with effect from 1 January 2014, and payable monthly by the Company to CES at HK\$40,000 per month. Another portion of HK\$480,000 per annum was liable only when the audited profit before tax of each financial year of the Company reaches HK\$480,000 and payable on the business date one month after the publication of the Company's final audited result for the year. The Third Supplemental Agreement is a memorandum of the Second Supplemental Agreement and only revised the payment method as compared with the Second Supplemental Agreement. Therefore, the Company entered into the Third Supplemental Agreement did not represent a new connected transaction.

On 19 May 2015, the Company and CES entered into the Fourth Supplemental Agreement which lasts for 3 years commenced with effect from 20 May 2015 and shall terminate on 19 May 2018. All terms and conditions remains unchanged.

(b) The Company entered into a tenancy agreement (the "Tenancy Agreement") with New Era Group (China) Limited ("NEG"), a company of which Mr. Xiang Xin, a director of the Company has control, for the occupancy of an office premises for a 3 years term commenced from 1 July 2008 with rent-free period from 1 July 2008 to 31 August 2008. Pursuant to the Tenancy Agreement, the Company shall pay a deposit of HK\$160,000 and a monthly rental of HK\$80,000 to NEG. The deposit was included in prepayment, deposits and other receivables in the condensed statement of financial position. During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Tenancy agreement had been renewed for further 3 years commenced from 1 July 2011 with the same terms and conditions. On 1 January 2014, the term of Tenancy Agreement has been extended a 36 months commencing from 1 July 2014, agreed by both the Company and NEG. On 5 May 2017, the term of Tenancy Agreement was been further extended a 36 months commencing from 1 July 2017.

Interim Report 2017

### 12 COMMITMENTS

Lease commitments

As at 30 June 2017, the total future minimum lease payments of the Company under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

Within one year In the second to fifth years inclusive

Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the Company for its office. Leases are negotiated for an average term of 3 years and rentals are fixed over the lease term and do not include contingent rentals.

# 13 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company did not have any significant contingent liabilities at 30 June 2017.

# 14 INTERIM DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of an interim dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2017 (six months ended 30 June 2016: Nil).